2000

# Utah v. Manuel Ernesto Samora : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

**JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT**

This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(e) (1996). The Honorable J. Dennis Frederick, Judge, Third District Court, Salt Lake County, State of Utah sentenced Defendant/Appellant Manuel Ernesto Samora ("Appellant" or "Samora") and entered judgment of conviction for attempted joyriding with intent to temporarily deprive the owner, a class A misdemeanor (R. 42). A copy of the Judgment is in Addendum A.

**STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES, STANDARD OF REVIEWS, PRESERVATION**

Issue 1. Whether the trial judge violated due process, Appellant's right to appear and defend, and Utah R. Crim. P. 22 when he sentenced Appellant in absentia to the maximum sentence without affording defense counsel or the state an opportunity to speak at sentencing.

Standard of Review. This issue involves a question of law which is reviewed for correctness. See State v. Anderson, 929 P.2d 1107, 1110 (Utah 1996) (issue of whether defendant was properly sentenced in absentia involves a question of law). In addition, the ultimate issue as to whether Appellant voluntarily absented himself from sentencing is reviewed for correctness. See generally State v. Ham, 910 P.2d 433, 438 (Utah App. 1996) (reviewing ultimate issue of whether consent to search was voluntary for correctness). While a trial judge ordinarily has discretion in sentencing, such discretion is not unlimited. See State v. Johnson, 856 P.2d 1064, 1071 (Utah 1993) (recognizing trial court exceeds its discretion when it fails to sentence based on reliable and relevant information, and reviewing question of whether trial judge sentenced defendant based on reliable and relevant information as a question of law). Any underlying factual findings are reviewed for clear error. See generally State v. Pena, 869 P.2d 932, 935 (Utah 1994) (factual findings are reviewed for clear error).

Preservation. Although defense counsel was not given an opportunity to speak, the trial court nevertheless considered the issue of whether it was appropriate to proceed, and concluded that Appellant had voluntarily absented himself (R. 64:2). A copy of the sentencing transcript is in Addendum B. The trial court also entered findings of fact and conclusions of law, a copy of which is in Addendum C (R. 44-45). In fact, although the parties were never given the opportunity to address the issue of whether proceeding in absentia was appropriate under the circumstances of the case, the prosecutor was able to

prepare findings and conclusions on that issue (R. 64:2). Because the trial court considered this issue below, it is properly preserved for appellate review. See State v. Eldredge, 773 P.2d 29, 36 (Utah 1989) (purpose of requiring that an issue be raised in the trial court is to allow the trial judge to review the issue and correct an error).<sup>1</sup>

Alternatively, the trial judge committed plain error in proceeding in absentia and in failing to base the sentencing decision on relevant and reliable information without affording defense counsel the opportunity to speak. See Johnson, 856 P.2d at 1071; Utah R. Crim. P. 22; State v. Dunn, 850 P.2d 1201, 1208-09 (Utah 1993) (plain error occurs when an error is obvious and prejudices the defendant). Under Johnson and Utah R. Crim. P. 22(a), the error in failing to conduct a full sentencing hearing was obvious as was the denial of Samora's right to presence at sentencing pursuant to Article I, section 12, Utah Constitution. The obvious error prejudiced Samora since he received the maximum sentence when he otherwise was a candidate for probation; see discussion infra at 11.

---

<sup>1</sup> The purposes of the preservation rules are to: (1) allow trial counsel the opportunity to review and correct any errors, and (2) preclude defense counsel from foregoing objections as a matter of strategy and when the strategy does not work and defendant is convicted, claiming error. Eldredge, 773 P.2d at 36; State v. Labrum, 925 P.2d 937, 939 (Utah 1996); State v. Bullock, 791 P.2d 155, 159 (Utah 1989), *cert. denied*, 497 U.S. 1024 (1990). In this case where the trial judge reviewed the issue of whether to proceed in absentia at sentencing and entered findings and conclusions on that issue, both of those purposes were met. The trial court had the opportunity to review the issue and correct the error, and no possible trial strategy existed for foregoing the objection. Accordingly, the issue was properly preserved for appeal.

Finally, the issue should also be reviewed because exceptional circumstances justifying review exist in this case. See State v. Irwin, 924 P.2d 5, 11 (Utah App. 1996). Utah R. Evid. 22(a) requires a trial judge to afford defendant the opportunity to provide relevant information at sentencing; due process requires the judge to conduct a full and fair sentencing hearing. Where the judge does not afford counsel the opportunity to speak and does not conduct a full and fair sentencing hearing, a procedural anomaly requiring review exists. See id. (exceptional circumstances doctrine generally applies to rare procedural anomalies). In addition, the question of whether the trial judge imposed legal sentence is of widespread interest as evidenced by the number of cases before this Court raising a similar issue. Id. (doctrine of exceptional circumstances may be applied where "matters of extraordinary importance or widespread interest" exist). Without appellate review, the egregious violation of due process, Utah R. Crim. P. 22 and the right to presence which occurred in this case would go unchecked. In this case where the trial judge had the obligation to conduct a full and fair sentencing hearing and failed to do so, exceptional circumstances require that this Court review the issue on appeal.

Issue 2. Whether Appellant waived his right to appeal by failing to appear at sentencing.

Preservation. The state raised this issue in its response to this Court's *sua sponte* motion for summary disposition. This Court ordered that this issue be considered as part of the plenary review of this case. See Addendum D.

Standard of Review. This issue involves a question of law. See generally Pena, 869 P.2d at 936 (questions of law are reviewed for correctness).

### **TEXT OF RELEVANT RULES AND CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS**

The text of the following rules and constitutional provision is in Addendum E:

Utah R. Crim. 17(a)(2);

Utah R. Crim. P. 22;

Utah Const. art. I, § 7;

Utah Const. art. I, § 12;

U.S. Const. amend. XIV.

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

On April 18, 2000, the state charged Samora with unlawful control of a motor vehicle, a third degree felony (R. 07). On August 8, 2000, Samora pled guilty to attempted unlawful control of a motor vehicle with intent to temporarily deprive, a class A misdemeanor, before the Honorable Robin Reese (R. 63). Judge Reese scheduled sentencing for September 22, 2000 before the Honorable J. Frederick Dennis (R. 63:8). When Samora failed to appear at sentencing on September 22, 2000, Judge Frederick sentenced him to the maximum one year sentence (R. 64). This appeal follows.

### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

Samora was charged with taking his girlfriend's car on March 31, 2000 (R. 07, 21). According to the plea affidavit, Samora had been living with his girlfriend for over three years when he took the car, and did not intend to permanently deprive her of the vehicle (R. 21).

At the plea colloquy, Samora indicated that his former girlfriend, Kelly Johnson, was still using Samora's cell phone and had other property belonging to Samora (R. 63:6-7). The record also shows that Samora had worked full time at the same job for a year (R. 10).

After Samora pled guilty, the state requested a presentence report (R. 63:5). On September 18, 2000, Judge Frederick revoked Samora's release because he had not appeared at Adult Probation and Parole for preparation of a presentence report (R. 35).

On September 22, 2000, Samora did not appear at sentencing (R. 64:2). Without affording either party the opportunity to speak, Judge Frederick summarily concluded that Samora had voluntarily absented himself and sentenced Samora to the maximum one year sentence (R. 64:2); see Addendum B.

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The trial judge violated Utah R. Crim. P. 22(a) and due process by failing to afford the parties an opportunity to present information relevant to sentencing and by otherwise failing to base the sentence on relevant information or to conduct a full and fair sentencing hearing. Imposing a maximum sentence based solely on the failure to appear without considering the nature and circumstances of the crime, defendant's background or society's interests and without affording the parties the opportunity to present information relevant to sentencing violates the rule and due process and requires a new sentencing hearing.

The trial judge further violated due process and the Rules of Criminal Procedure by sentencing Appellant in absentia. Appellant did not knowingly waive his right to presence at sentencing in this case where he was not informed that he would be sentenced even if he were not present. The critical role of presence at sentencing requires that the right to presence not be lightly forfeited. In this case where Appellant did not waive his right to be present at sentencing, the trial court erred in sentencing him in absentia and the sentence must be vacated.

Just as he did not knowingly waive the right to presence, Samora did not knowingly waive his right to appeal. The right to appeal is essential to a fair hearing and cannot be easily waived. In this case, nothing in the record demonstrates that Samora was informed that if he did not appear at sentencing, he would waive his right to appeal any unlawful sentence which was rendered against him. In addition, Samora did not escape after an appeal was in place; instead, he did not appear at sentencing. Moreover, it would be fundamentally unfair to proceed with sentencing despite the fact that Samora was not present, then disallow an appeal of that sentence because Samora was not in custody. Finally, the rationale for dismissing appeals when an inmate escapes, while of questionable continuing validity, does not apply to this situation because the state is able to enforce any ruling on appeal in this case and has proceeded with this case and obtained a final judgment despite Samora's absence. In such circumstances, the state has reaped a

benefit from Samora's absence, so allowing review of his unlawful sentence is appropriate and necessary for the integrity of the system.

### ARGUMENT

#### POINT I. THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR WHEN IT SENTENCED APPELLANT IN ABSENTIA TO THE MAXIMUM ALLOWABLE SENTENCE WITHOUT ANY INPUT FROM EITHER PARTY.

Judge Frederick began the sentencing proceeding by pointing out, "[t]his is another case where the defendant apparently is not present . . . ." (R. 64:2). Without affording either party an opportunity to speak, Judge Frederick then stated:

Mr. Samora entered a plea of guilty to a class A misdemeanor crime of joyriding with attempt to deprive. He has failed to appear at Adult Probation and Parole and/or in this Court, I will determine thereby that he has voluntarily absented himself from these proceedings, and will order that he be committed under the plea he entered to the Adult Detention Center for a period of one year, and order that he be fined an amount of \$2500 (inaudible) [Mr. Defense Counsel].

I will order the commitment to issue forthwith, and [Mr. Prosecutor], as to findings and conclusions of law, I'll ask you to prepare.

(R. 64:2).

A. THE TRIAL JUDGE VIOLATED DUE PROCESS AND UTAH R. CRIM. P. 22 WHEN HE SENTENCED SAMORA WITHOUT CONSIDERING RELEVANT AND RELIABLE INFORMATION AND WITHOUT AFFORDING THE PARTIES THE OPPORTUNITY TO SPEAK AT SENTENCING.

The state and federal due process clauses "require[] that a sentencing judge act on reasonably reliable and relevant information in exercising discretion in fixing sentence."



State v. Howell, 707 P.2d 115, 118 (Utah 1985); see also Johnson, 856 P.2d at 1071 (state and federal due process protections applicable to sentencing require that judge make sentencing decision based on reliable and relevant information). A sentence which is not based on reliable and relevant information must be vacated. See id. at 1071-75 (vacating sentence based on unreliable hearsay report).

Utah R. Crim. P. 22(a) further attempts to effectuate the due process requirement of a full and fair sentencing hearing based on relevant and reliable information by requiring sentencing judges to give both the defendant and the prosecutor an opportunity to present any information which might be material to the sentence. Utah R. Crim. P. 22(a) states in part:

Before imposing sentence the court *shall afford* the defendant an opportunity to make a statement and to present information in mitigation of punishment, or to show any legal cause why sentence should not be imposed. The prosecuting attorney shall also be given an opportunity to present any information material to the imposition of sentence.

Utah R. Crim. P. 22(a) (emphasis added); see Howell, 707 P.2d at 118 ("[t]o ensure fairness in the sentencing procedure, [Utah R. Crim. P. 22(a)] directs trial courts to hear evidence from both the defendant and the prosecution that is relevant to the sentence to be imposed").

The plain language of Rule 22(a) places on the trial court the responsibility to afford defense counsel the opportunity to speak at sentencing and to present information

relevant to sentencing.<sup>2</sup> While Rule 22(a) mandates that the trial court give the parties the opportunity to speak at sentencing, due process as outlined in Johnson, 856 P.2d at 1071 requires that any sentence imposed by trial judges be based on reliable and relevant information. Working together, Rule 22(a) and due process require a trial judge to make sure that a fair and full sentencing hearing which meets due process requirements occurs.

In this case, the trial court did not afford defense counsel or the prosecutor the opportunity to present information relevant to sentencing. Failure to hold a full sentencing hearing and the concomitant failure to base the sentencing decision on complete and accurate information requires a new sentencing hearing pursuant to Johnson, 856 P.2d at 1071-75. In a case such as the present one where the trial judge did not afford defense counsel or the prosecutor the opportunity to present information pertinent to the sentencing decision, conducting a harmless error review would undermine the due process requirement of a full and fair sentencing hearing. Since defense counsel was not given the opportunity to present relevant information, complete information favorable to the defendant is not in the record. Moreover, the prosecutor may have been aware of mitigating circumstances and requested a less severe sentence; that information would likewise not be in the record since the prosecutor was not afforded the opportunity to speak. Reviewing the record under these circumstances to determine whether the

---

<sup>2</sup> Where a defendant is represented by counsel, defendant presents information through defense counsel.

missing information would have impacted on the sentence would be ludicrous where the parties were not afforded the opportunity to include that information in the record.

Even if this Court were to attempt a review for prejudice, the record in this case demonstrates harm caused by the court's failure to afford counsel the opportunity to consider information relevant to sentencing. The record demonstrates that the crime in this case was part of a domestic dispute which occurred at the end of a three-year live-in relationship (R. 63; 21). Although Samora admitted that he took his girlfriend's car without her permission, he did not have the intent to permanently deprive her of that vehicle and the car was returned to her (R. 21, 03). No violence was involved and Kelly Johnson continued to use Samora's cell phone and had some of his property in her possession (R. 63:7). Since Judge Frederick was not present at the plea hearing and a transcript had not been prepared, he did not know that this crime involved a domestic dispute or that the victim had some of Samora's property. Had the judge been fully aware of the circumstances, probation, not the maximum sentence, would have been likely.

Samora's nonappearance at sentencing does not alter the likelihood that he would not have received the maximum sentence. First, failing to appear at sentencing is punishable by other means and should not enter into the sentencing matrix. For example, a defendant who fails to appear at sentencing can be charged with a separate crime or held on a bench warrant after not appearing. In addition, if the judge sentences a defendant in absentia, the defendant loses the right to allocution which can play an important role in

mitigating sentence; see discussion infra at 14-25 regarding impropriety of sentencing in absentia.

Common sense dictates that imposing a maximum sentence based solely on a failure to appear at sentencing can result in sentences which are not appropriate in light of society's interests, the nature of the crime or the defendant's background, and which impact profoundly on criminal justice resources. Filling the jail with misdemeanants serving maximum sentences who are irresponsible regarding their court dates but who otherwise do not present a threat to society nor deserve severe punishment makes little sense. Instead, the sentencing decision is more appropriately based on a complete review of the nature of the crime and the background of the defendant.

Additionally, even if nonappearance at sentencing were considered in determining the appropriate sentence, it would be only one of several factors to be considered.

"A sentence in a criminal case should be appropriate for the defendant in light of his background and the crime committed and also serve the interests of society which underlie the criminal justice system." State v. McClendon, 611 P.2d 728, 729 (Utah 1980). In other words, pursuant to McClendon, Johnson and due process, a sentence must be based not only on the circumstances of the crime, but also on other factors such as the defendant's background and the interests of society. The crime in this case where Samora took his live-in girlfriend's car and had no intent to permanently deprive her of that car was relatively benign. Nothing in the record suggests Samora had an extensive criminal

history or was involved in violence, and Samora had been employed full-time at the same place for a year. Under these circumstances, probation was likely and Samora was prejudiced by the judge's failure to conduct a full sentencing hearing.

As a final matter, even if this issue was not adequately preserved for review by the trial judge's ruling, it nevertheless was plain error requiring that the sentence be vacated. The error in failing to afford defense counsel the opportunity to speak on behalf of his client and in otherwise failing to base the sentencing decision on reliable and relevant information was obvious in light of Rule 22(a) and Johnson. See generally Dunn, 850 P.2d at 1208-09 (plain error occurs where error is obvious and prejudices defendant). The obviousness of the error in failing to afford counsel the opportunity to present information relevant to sentencing is bolstered by Utah Code Ann. § 77-18-1 (7) (1999) which mandates that the trial judge receive any information regarding the appropriate sentence which the parties desire to present, and that such information "be presented in open court on the record and in the presence of the defendant." Utah Code Ann. § 77-18-1 (7) (1999).

While this due process error requires vacation of the sentence regardless of whether prejudice is apparent in the record (see discussion supra at 10), even if prejudice were required, the record demonstrates that Samora was harmed by the judge's failure to conduct a full and fair sentencing hearing. As outlined supra at 11, the error in failing to afford defense counsel the opportunity to present information relevant to sentencing

prejudiced Samora since the trial judge was not fully informed of the nature and circumstances of the crime or Samora's background. Had the trial judge been fully informed and considered all relevant and reliable information, probation would have been the appropriate sentence.

In addition, exceptional circumstances require review of this issue. See Irwin, 924 P.2d at 11. The irregular procedure which occurred in this case whereby the judge sentenced Samora in absentia without affording either party the opportunity to speak is an exceptional circumstance which requires review. See discussion supra at 4. Without review, the flagrant violation of Samora's right to due process which occurred in this case would not be scrutinized nor corrected.

**B. THE TRIAL COURT VIOLATED DUE PROCESS AND UTAH R. CRIM. P. 22 BY SENTENCING SAMORA IN ABSENTIA.**

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