2000

Utah v. Manuel Ernesto Samora : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

appeals of criminal defendants who fail to surrender themselves after they have been freed on bail and those who escape, citing and quoting from cases in both postures. *See id.* (citing *Molinaro v. New Jersey*, 396 U.S. 365, 366 (1970) (failure to surrender after release on bail) and *Golden v. State*, 243 S.E.2d 303, 304 (Ga. App. 1978) (escape)).

Finally, defendant argues that *State v. Moya*, 815 P.2d 1312 (Utah App. 1991), supports appellate review of Samora's claims. Br. Aplt. at 28. It does not. *Moya*, which addressed a unique and convoluted factual scenario, is wholly distinguishable. Nothing in the *Moya* record substantiated the claim that Moya was a fugitive from the Utah justice system. 815 P.2d at 1313 n.1. Moya never escaped custody in Utah. *Id.* Whether he was absent from supervision was "irrelevant" where "supervision over him terminated by operation of law long before his alleged fugitive status arose." *Id.*

Defendant, on the other hand, *is* a fugitive from justice. Supervision over him did not terminate: rather, he did not conform to the requirements of his supervised release and did not appear.

In sum, *Hardy* controls this case. Defendant, a fugitive from justice, cannot call on this Court to decide his appeal. No precedent cited by defendant distinguishes *Hardy*.

Point II

The trial court properly sentenced defendant in absentia.

Defendant states that the record does not establish a knowing and voluntary waiver of his right to be present and defend at sentencing. Br. Aplt. at 15. In support of this claim, defendant appears to argue that the record does not demonstrate that he was voluntarily absent. See Br. Aplt. at 15. Defendant's argument on this point is a challenge to the court's finding of fact, and appellate review is for clear error.⁴ See *Johnson v. State*, 604 S.W.2d at 929; *Frost v. United States*, 618 A.2d 653, 657 (D.C. 1992).

⁴Defendant mistakenly relies on *State v. Ham*, 910 P.2d 433, 438 (Utah App. 1996), for the applicable standard of review. See Br. Aplt. at 2. Citing *Ham*, defendant argues that whether he was or was not voluntarily absent should be reviewed for correctness. *Ham* applies the correctness standard to the ultimate issue of whether consent to search has been voluntarily given. Whether consent has been voluntarily given is not a mere question of fact, i.e., of whether a defendant agreed to a search, but requires that the court consider whether the defendant's agreement was sufficiently uncoerced to be treated as legally voluntary. When reviewing the voluntariness of a consent to search, the appellate court must balance "the legitimate need for such searches and the equally important requirement of assuring an absence of coercion." *Schneckloth v. Bustamonte*, 412 U.S. 218, 227 (1973). Voluntariness in the context of a defendant's absenting himself from trial, on the other hand, requires no review for coercion and no balancing of competing interests. It is, rather, a mere factual inquiry.

Further, even if the question were a mixed question of law and fact, defendant could not meet the "plain error" standard applicable for unpreserved claims. Error, if any, was not obvious for the same reasons it was not clear. Additionally, error is not obvious where "no settled appellate law" should have guided the trial court. *State v. Ross*, 951 P.2d 236, 239 (Ut. App. 1997). Defendant has pointed to no Utah precedent suggesting that a defendant, having notice of his sentencing hearing and released from custody, may not be found voluntarily absent.

The controlling case in this jurisdiction is *State v. Anderson*, 929 P.2d 1107 (Utah 1996). In *Anderson*, the Utah Supreme Court held that a defendant is voluntarily absent when he receives notice of the hearing and is “free to attend” in the sense that he is “not incarcerated elsewhere.” *Id.* at 1110.

The record in this case indicates that defendant had notice and was not incarcerated. Defendant and his counsel both received notice of the sentencing date and time at the plea hearing. R. 63:8. Defendant was released from custody on August 28, 2000, almost a month before sentencing. R. 34. The trial court’s finding that defendant was voluntarily absent is therefore not clearly erroneous.

Furthermore, in determining whether a defendant is voluntarily absent, this Court has implicitly held that its review of a trial court’s voluntariness decision may extend to evidence developed subsequent to the trial court’s ruling. *See State v. Wagstaff*, 772 P.2d 987, 988 (Ut. App. 1989) (reviewing affidavit filed with motion for a new trial eight months after trial in absentia). This approach is also consistent with the express holdings of other jurisdictions. Reasoning that the validity of a trial court’s voluntariness decision will be clearer in hindsight, these jurisdictions hold that appellate courts may consider evidence not before the trial court. *See, e.g., Moore*, 670 S.W.2d 259, 261 (Tex. Crim. App. 1984) (en banc). To exclude post-ruling evidence would make it difficult for a defendant to show involuntary absence when moving to correct an illegal sentence. *See id.* Likewise, to preclude such

evidence would hinder an appellate court's ability to accurately review the trial court's finding of voluntariness. *See id.*

In the instant case, post-sentencing entries in the district court docket demonstrate that defendant has made no effort to contact the court to explain his absence. *See* Docket, Third District Court–Salt Lake, Case No. 001996887. The court's bench warrant, issued on September 20, 2000, remains outstanding.

Finally, *Anderson* implicitly holds that a defendant who has notice and is not incarcerated carries the burden of proffering some “sound reason” to support a contention that his absence was not voluntary. 929 P.2d at 1100; *see also Wagstaff*, 772 P.2d at 990 (“If [defendant’s] absence is deliberate without a sound reason, the trial court may start in his absence.”). *Anderson*’s implicit holding is consistent with precedent in other jurisdictions expressly holding that a defendant, having notice of his trial or sentencing proceeding and not incarcerated, has the burden of at least proffering some evidence that his absence was involuntary. *See United States v. Marotta*, 518 F.2d 681, 684 (9th Cir. 1975) (stating that where defendant knew trial date and where no evidence suggested an enforced absence, defendant “ha[d] the burden of going forward and offering evidence to refute the [voluntariness] finding of the trial court”); *State v. Worthy*, 583 N.W.2d 270, 277 (Minn. 1998) (holding that a “defendant bears the burden of showing that his or her absence from trial was voluntary”); *State v. Cotton*, 621 S.W.2d 296, 298 (Mo. Ct.

App. 1981) (“When a defendant is free on bond and does not appear at the time specified, it is presumed, until established otherwise, that his absence is voluntary for the purpose of deciding whether he has waived his right to be present at trial.”); *Moore v. State*, 670 S.W.2d at 261 (“Absent any evidence from the defendant to refute the trial court’s determination that his absence was voluntary, we will not disturb the trial court’s finding.”).

In the instant case, defendant had notice and had been released from custody. He did not, however, proffer any reason for his absence from sentencing. He did not meet the burden of going forward to present some “sound reason” for his absence.

In sum, the trial court did not clearly err in finding defendant voluntarily absent. The record demonstrates both that defendant had notice of sentencing and that he was free to attend in the sense that he was not incarcerated. Evidence developed after sentencing supports the trial court’s finding. Finally, defendant did not, either at sentencing or at any time thereafter, proffer a reason for his absence. Nothing in the record suggests that defendant’s absence was involuntary.

Point III

A trial court may sentence a voluntarily absent defendant even though he has not been warned that sentencing may proceed in his absence.

Defendant argues that sentencing cannot proceed, even though a defendant may be voluntarily absent, unless he has been warned that he can be sentenced in

absentia. *See* Br. Aplt. at 15. Defendant asserts that a knowing and voluntary waiver of the right to presence is not possible without a warning. *See id.*

To establish plain error, as defendant must since the claim is unpreserved, he must show that (i) an error occurred, (ii) the error was obvious, and (iii) the error was harmful. *See State v. Dunn*, 850 P.2d 1201, 1208 (Utah 1993).

Error, if any, was not obvious. “Utah courts have repeatedly held that a trial court’s error is not plain where there is no settled appellate law to guide the trial court.” *See State v. Ross*, 951 P.2d 236, 239 (Utah App. 1997). No Utah precedent imposes a warning requirement.

In any event, no error occurred. Defendant’s insistence on a warning requirement is, in fact, inconsistent with Utah precedent. *Anderson* details the Utah law controlling waiver of the right to presence. Under *Anderson*, voluntary absence—absence after notice where the defendant is free to attend in the sense that he is not incarcerated elsewhere—effects a waiver. “[A] defendant not accused of a capital crime waives his right to be present at sentencing by voluntary absence.” *Anderson*, 929 P.2d at 1110. No warning is required.⁵

⁵Defendant attempts to distinguish *Anderson*, arguing that no warning was required because of its unique procedural posture. The court, however, never entertained the possibility that a warning might be required. Rather, the *Anderson* court explained how, under the unique circumstances surrounding the case, sentencing was permissible without actual notice to defendant.

The propriety of sentencing in absentia arose in the trial court after *Anderson* moved for permission to leave the state to visit his parents. The court granted his motion upon *Anderson*’s written and oral agreement to be tried in absentia should he fail to

The *Anderson* holding relied on and is consistent with the Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure. Rule 22(b) states: “On the same grounds that a defendant may be tried in defendant’s absence, defendant may likewise be sentenced in defendant’s absence.” Rule 17(a)(2) details those grounds: in non-capital cases, “the defendant’s voluntary absence from the trial after notice to defendant of the time for trial shall not prevent the case from being tried and a verdict or judgment entered therein shall have the same effect as if defendant had been present.”

Neither *Anderson* nor the Utah Rules of Criminal Procedure make waiver contingent on defendant’s having been warned that he may be tried in his absence. Further, public policy considerations militate against requiring a warning.

Anderson explains some of the practical considerations that favor sentencing in absentia. These include the possibility that “a defendant might . . . absent himself for years,” during which a judge might go on to other assignments or retire, trial

appear for trial. *Anderson* failed to appear and was tried and sentenced in his absence. 929 P.2d at 1108.

On appeal *Anderson* admitted waiving his right to be present a trial, but objected to his sentencing in absentia. He argued that the sentencing procedure violated his rights to due process and to allocution. On review, the Utah Supreme Court held that he had voluntarily absented himself and waived his right to be present at sentencing. After explaining that a defendant must generally have notice and be free from custody, the court held that *Anderson*, who did not have notice of the sentencing proceeding, had nevertheless waived his right to presence by his voluntary absence. The court found that *Anderson*’s lack of notice was attributable to his own misconduct. “Had he maintained contact with pretrial services and with his attorney, as was his duty, he would have known of the sentencing date.” *Id.* at 1111.

records could be lost or destroyed, victims might move, or trial counsel could die. *See Anderson*, 929 P.2d at 1111. At the very least, “it would be a waste of judicial resources to repeat a sentencing hearing simply due to [a] defendant’s caprice.” *Id.*

The result defendant seeks, i.e., a ruling that sentencing cannot proceed for lack of warning, could force the trial courts to deal with every one of the practical problems that *Anderson* sets forth. Should a court inadvertently fail to give a required warning, a defendant could simply choose not to attend—for whatever reason—and thereby foreclose, at least until his apprehension, further proceedings in the court.

Defendant argues for a warning requirement relying on *United States v. McPherson*, 421 F.2d 1127, 1129 (D.C. Cir. 1969). Defendant argues that *Anderson*’s reliance on *McPherson* requires that defendant be given notice, or warned, that sentencing will occur even if he does not appear. Br. Appt. at 8. *Anderson*, however, merely relied on *McPherson* for the proposition that a “defendant must have notice of proceedings.” *Anderson*, 929 P.2d at 1110.

Furthermore, *McPherson* was effectively overruled by *Taylor v. United States (Taylor II)*, 414 U.S. 17 (1973). *McPherson*, who was released on bail during trial and failed to return, was tried in absentia. On appeal, the appellate court reversed, holding that *McPherson* may not have intentionally relinquished his right to be present, testify, and confront the witnesses against him. Because he had not been

warned that trial could continue without him, the court vacated the judgment and remanded for a determination of whether McPherson knew in fact that trial could go on without him. 421 F.2d at 1130-31.

The dissent argued that the issue was not whether McPherson knew that trial could proceed in his absence, but whether he knew he had a right to be present and waived it. *Id.* at 1131.

In *United States v. Taylor (Taylor I)*, 478 F.2d 689 (1st Cir.) (*aff'd*, 414 U.S. 17 (1973)), also a case where the defendant absented himself mid-trial, the appellate court adopted the reasoning of the McPherson dissent. If a “defendant knew or should have known that he had a right to be present, his voluntary absence . . . [is] a waiver of that known right.” *Id.* at 691 (internal quotation marks omitted). No warning that sentencing will continue in a defendant’s absence is necessary because “[t]he very statement that a trial will continue or commence at a fixed time, when coupled with knowledge of one’s right to be present at trial, implies that the continuation of the trial, at least in non-capital cases, does not depend on his presence.” *Id.*

The United States Supreme Court granted certiorari in *Taylor* and affirmed. The Supreme Court, like First Circuit Court of Appeals, rejected Taylor’s argument that “his mere voluntary absence from his trial [could not] be construed as an effective waiver . . . unless it is demonstrated that he knew or had been expressly

warned by the trial court not only that he had a right to be present but also that the trial would continue in his absence.” *Taylor II*, 414 U.S. at 19. Like the court below, the Supreme Court found that the issue was “the right to be present” and that “that right was effectively waived by [the defendant’s] voluntary absence.” *Id.* at 20. The Court determined that no warning was required and reiterated that “a trial may not be defeated by conduct of the accused that **prevents the** trial from going forward.” *Id.* The Supreme Court’s opinion follows the reasoning of *Taylor I* and **rejects** the analysis of the *McPherson* majority. Defendant’s reliance on *McPherson* is therefore unavailing.

Defendant also suggests **that** *Crosby v. United States*, 506 U.S. 255 (1993), supports a warning requirement. *Crosby*, a more recent United States Supreme Court case, interpreted Rule 43 of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure. In *Crosby*, the Court held that Rule 43, a more restrictive **rule** than its Utah counterpart, proscribes the **commencement** of a trial in a defendant’s absence. The Court noted that Rule 43 permits the continuance, but not the commencement, of a trial in a defendant’s absence. The case was decided on the basis of statute and did not reach any **constitutional** claim. The case did not address a warning requirement and does not support defendant’s argument that warning is required.

Crosby and *Taylor* are both consistent with the current version of Rule 43 of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure. While the rule requires a defendant’s

presence at the commencement of trial, the right to presence may be waived by absence during the continuation of trial and at sentencing:

The further progress of the trial to and including the return of the verdict, and the imposition of sentence, will not be prevented and the defendant will be considered to have waived the right to be present whenever a defendant, initially present at trial, or having pleaded guilty or nolo contendere,

(1) is voluntarily absent after the trial has commenced (whether or not the defendant has been informed by the court of the obligation to remain during trial),

(2) in a noncapital case, is voluntarily absent at the imposition of sentence, or

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